

Developing a clinical audit programme





Authors

Mandy Smith, Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership Sally Fereday, Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership

Version history:

September 2009: January 2012: October 2016: (first published) (revised) (revised)

Next review:

November 2019

© 2016 Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership Ltd (HQIP) Design: Pad Creative www.padcreative.co.uk

Do you need to print this document? Please consider the environment before printing.



Contents

1	Introduction	4
	1.1 Background	4
	Functions of the clinical audit programme	5
	.3 Requirements for external monitoring	5
2	Compiling the annual clinical audit programme	6
	2.1 Roles and responsibilities	6
	2.2 Stakeholders	6
	2.3 External 'must-do' audits	6
	2.4 Internal 'must-do' audits	7
	2.5 Registering clinical audit proposals	7
3	Review, prioritisation, and formal approval	8
_	3.1 Reviewing the draft programme	8
	Prioritising the draft programme	8
	3.3 Approval of the clinical audit programme	9
	3.4 Additions to the clinical audit programme	9
	Practical steps in compiling an annual Trust clinical audit programme	10
4	Monitoring the clinical audit programme	11
	4.1 Responsibilities	11
	4.2 Monitoring progress	11
	4.3 Monitoring the implementation of action plans	11
	4.4 Identifying risks	11
5	References	12
A	pendix 1. Minimum data set for a clinical audit database	12
A	pendix 2. Quality Impact Analysis	13
A	pendix 3. Clinical Audit Progress Report for 'Insert name here' Division/Directorate	14

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) has published guidance on a range of topics associated with clinical audit and quality improvement. In 2009, HQIP published guidance and templates covering the development of clinical audit strategies and policy, clinical audit reports, and how to devise and manage the annual clinical audit programme. Many NHS organisations and other healthcare providers have used these publications to develop their own policies, strategies, programmes and report templates.

The guidance was updated in 2012, and reviewed as part of a series of workshops for clinical audit practitioners held by HQIP in 2013. At that time it was felt that while still useful, the guidance needed further updating to reflect contemporary practice.

Although the principles of good quality clinical audit have remained unchanged, the context in which clinical audit is carried out has evolved. There is now a greater understanding and appreciation of the relationship between clinical audit and other quality improvement activities, and many NHS Trusts have moved to integrate clinical audit into wider programmes of quality improvement and service development.

This begs the question as to whether there is a need for a clinical audit policy or programme that stands apart from wider policies and programmes of quality improvement. Some Trusts are now moving towards full integration of all aspects of service improvement, and are reaping the benefits that this can yield. Different approaches to this process of integration work well in different organisations, and at present there is no single consensus on how such an integrated approach should be achieved or governed.

There are distinct statutory and contractual requirements for clinical audit, which healthcare providers must meet. The statutory and mandatory frameworks that regulate clinical audit within the NHS in England continue to evolve, and are detailed within HQIP's publication <u>Statutory and mandatory requirements in clinical audit</u>.¹ Our guidance on policy and programme development aims to support NHS Trusts in meeting these requirements, as well as ensuring that they use clinical audit effectively to improve the quality of their services. While the guidance itself refers to clinical audit, many aspects can be applied to other quality improvement methods, and can be used to develop integrated policies. It is for each Trust to determine how they should approach clinical audit and quality improvement, and how they use this guidance.

Introduction to the guidance

HQIP suggests that the four organisational documents below are necessary for the effective management of clinical audit. These documents are intimately linked and should be read together.

- A policy on the use and conduct of clinical audit: which
 sets out the principles, roles, responsibilities and practices
 a healthcare provider will follow in auditing clinical practice,
 and improving the quality of services to meet the needs of
 patients, healthcare commissioners, healthcare regulators,
 and others
- A strategy on the development of clinical audit: which
 describes how a healthcare provider will implement the
 policy, and increase the impact of audit on clinical services
- A clinical audit programme: which presents a prioritised summary of planned clinical audit activity and outcomes, that is regularly updated and scrutinised in accordance with the above clinical audit policy and strategy
- A clinical audit report template: which provides consistency in clinical audit reporting

The aim of this publication is to support healthcare providers in developing their clinical audit programme, with tools for ongoing management and annual review.



A clinical audit programme should:

- Reflect key national and local drivers for quality improvement
- Balance key drivers with directorate/division/service/ clinician priorities
- Include a system for prioritisation of clinical audit
- Enable monitoring to ensure clinical audits selected for the programme are completed

1.2 Functions of the clinical audit programme

The clinical audit programme may exist in a variety of forms, either paper-based or electronic. At the most basic level, it will be a simple list of all the clinical audit projects planned or undertaken by the healthcare provider in a given period of time — normally a financial year. For a small organisation such as an individual GP practice, a single list may suffice. For a large, acute hospital Trust, the programme may be broken down into several lists, including one for Trust-wide projects, one for projects undertaken in collaboration with other local providers as well as separate lists for each clinical division or directorate. In this case, it is essential that these separate lists are also integrated so that they are monitored as one overall programme.

The programme allows the healthcare provider to fulfil several functions:

- Meeting requirements for external monitoring see 1.3 opposite
- Monitoring progress made in completing the programme
- · Monitoring the quality of clinical audit activity
- Monitoring the impact of the programme

In most cases the list will be incorporated into a database that includes a range of key information about each of the individual clinical audit projects. A minimum data set for a clinical audit programme database is given at <u>Appendix 1</u>. It includes basic information that should be obtained when projects are first registered, together with other quality management and monitoring information that should be added as projects progress.

1.3 Requirements for external monitoring

HQIP's <u>Statutory and mandatory requirements in clinical audit</u> guidance presents key requirements for clinical audit, which must form the basis of healthcare providers' approach to compiling their annual clinical audit programmes.

The clinical audit programme must:

- Meet the healthcare provider's contractual obligations
 to those who commission its services; this includes
 meeting the terms of the NHS Standard Contracts, which
 requires participation in the National Clinical Audit
 Patient Outcomes Programme (NCAPOP) audits relevant
 to the services they provide, and any locally agreed
 requirements such as Commissioning for Quality and
 Innovation (CQUIN) audits
- Use the findings from clinical and other audits including those undertaken at a national level, such as national confidential enquiries and inquiries and national service reviews – to ensure that action is taken to protect people who use services
- Ensure healthcare professionals are enabled to participate in clinical audit in order to satisfy the demands of their relevant professional bodies (for example, for revalidation and professional development)
- Meet the requirements of the regulatory framework operated by the Care Quality Commission (CQC), which requires registered healthcare providers to regularly assess and monitor the quality of the services provided, to ensure that action is taken to protect people who use services from risks associated with unsafe care
- Provide Foundation Trust Boards with the assurance they
 need to certify that they have effective arrangements in
 place for monitoring and continually improving the quality of
 healthcare provided to patients, by using systems, processes
 and procedures to monitor, audit and improve quality
- Enable healthcare providers, who are required to produce and publish Quality Accounts, to compile the information they need efficiently

2 Compiling the annual clinical audit programme

2.1 Roles and responsibilities

The healthcare provider's clinical audit policy should set out the roles and responsibilities of all the key players who will be involved in compiling and managing the clinical audit programme. For NHS Trusts this should include the role of the Trust Board in setting Trust priorities and requirements, the role of the medical director in ensuring that the annual programme is allied to the Board's strategic interests and concerns, and the roles and responsibilities of the committees/groups that are involved in the prioritisation of the programme and the subsequent review of reports and re-audits.

A key issue is who has overall responsibility for compiling the annual clinical audit programme, and for the purposes of this guidance it is assumed that this will be the clinical audit manager (or the manager who takes overall responsibility for clinical audit, whatever their job title might be). In larger organisations, the manager will need to work closely with the directorate leads for clinical audit, who will have delegated responsibilities including:

- Ensuring that all clinical audit activity within their directorate is registered
- Ensuring that their directorate participates in all national clinical audits, national confidential enquiries and service reviews relevant to the services that it provides
- Working with clinicians, service managers, divisional governance and quality managers as well as clinical audit staff to ensure that the clinical audit programme for their directorate meets all clinical, statutory, regulatory, commissioning and other Trust requirements

HQIP's *Guide for clinical audit leads* provides detailed guidance on the role of the clinical audit lead in compiling and monitoring the clinical audit programme.²

2.2 Stakeholders

Compiling the clinical audit programme requires close co-operation between all key stakeholders, including commissioners, clinical leads at all levels of the organisation, clinical governance managers, and all those responsible for formulating organisational policies.

All staff working in the organisation should have the opportunity to propose projects, and the views of patients, service users, carers and the public should be sought. Both national and local priorities should influence the development of the clinical audit programme.

2.3 External 'must-do' audits

The first step in developing a comprehensive annual programme is the identification of all the clinical audit projects that **must** be undertaken by the provider.

Every healthcare provider will have a number of clinical audits that it must complete on a regular – perhaps annual – basis in order to meet the external monitoring requirements outlined above.

It is essential to ensure that they are treated as priorities and that appropriate resources are provided to support them. Failure to participate or deliver on these externally driven audits may carry a penalty for the Trust, either financially, or in the form of a failed target, or non-compliance with regulations. They will form the core of the annual clinical audit programme.



The list of 'must-do' audits will vary between types of healthcare provider, but may include:

- NCAPOP and other national clinical audits relevant to the services provided, and/or where participation must be reported in Quality Accounts*
- Audits demonstrating compliance with regulatory requirements, e.g. audits with the aim of providing evidence of implementation of National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance, National Service Frameworks, and other national guidance such as that generated by the Clinical Outcomes Review Programme (CORP – covering National Confidential **Enquiries and Inquiries**)
- Audits required by external accreditation schemes, e.g. cancer peer review audits etc
- Audits that must be undertaken in order to comply with provider policies, particularly those that are subject to external review
- Commissioner priorities including national and regional Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) audits
- * See HQIP www.hqip.org.uk/national-programmes/ quality-accounts/

It should also be noted that while most healthcare providers will follow an annual clinical audit programme, many of these projects will need to be undertaken regularly, so a forward plan for future years can be maintained.

2.4 Internal 'must-do' audits

Every healthcare provider will also be able to compile a list of internal 'must-do' clinical audits, based on identified high risk or high profile matters arising locally. Many of these clinical audits will arise from governance issues or high profile local initiatives, and may include national initiatives with local relevance, without penalties for non-participation. They may include:

 Audits undertaken to meet organisational objectives and service developments

- Clinical risk issues
- Audits undertaken in response to serious untoward incidents/adverse incidents/complaints
- Organisational clinical priorities
- Priorities identified via patient and public involvement initiatives

2.5 Registering clinical audit proposals

Once the 'must-do' audits have been identified, stakeholders should be asked to propose projects that they believe would be of benefit to the healthcare provider and its patients and service users.

The most effective way of managing this part of the process is to stipulate that anyone who wants to propose an audit must complete an audit registration form, or proposal document. This form, which could be in hard copy, or electronic, should act as a prompt to ensure that the proposer has considered all of the issues that need to be addressed, in order to decide if the proposal is realistic and relevant to the organisation. In addition to providing the basic information required to enter the project onto the programme database, it should also provide the information that will be required to prioritise the project – see 3.2 overleaf.

3 Review, prioritisation, and formal approval

3.1 Reviewing the draft programme

Each Trust should have a framework to support effective clinical audit that relies on strategic planning and prioritisation. Clinical audits should contribute to the overall priorities of the organisation and should clearly improve patient care. However, resources are finite; both in terms of clinician time and central support function resource and this places a limit on the number of audits that can be carried out over the course of a year. This means that when all the various needs have been considered and a draft programme compiled, the projects that have been proposed need to be reviewed and prioritised in a systematic way. This process of review must be clinically led, and must take into account resource implications.

In smaller organisations the review may be dealt with centrally but in larger providers, the review is likely to require a staged process, with reviews at service unit or directorate/division level, followed by a final review by the clinical audit committee and sign off by the Trust Board.

Issues to be considered during the review include:

• Is the project a clinical audit? Does it aim to improve patient care by implementing change, where quality of care under review falls short of defined standards and criteria? (Projects that do not meet this definition, e.g. patient surveys, and service reviews with no agreed standards, may still be of value to the provider but there should be a clear statement in the clinical audit policy about whether such projects will be registered as part of the clinical audit programme and how the governance and ethical issues raised by such projects will be addressed)

- Is the audit topic of relevance to the organisation?
- Are all clinical services represented on the programme?
- Are the requirements for clinical audit training for junior doctors and revalidation for more senior staff being met?
- What priority should be given to each clinical audit?

3.2 Prioritising the draft programme

It is important to distinguish between the need to prioritise audits in order to make appropriate plans for the use of resources, and the need to register and monitor clinical audit activity in order to meet external monitoring requirements.

The highest priority must be given to the 'must-do' audits. Once they have been identified, the next priority should be given to projects that are important at the directorate/division/service unit level. Directorate priorities may include:

- Local clinical interest audit agreed by the directorate/ division/service as a priority
- National audits where participation is not required to be reported in Quality Accounts
- Participation in regional audits undertaken as part of clinical specialty networks or regional clinical audit networks



Factors that should be taken into account in determining directorate priorities are listed in HQIP's Best practice in clinical *audit.*³ They include:

- Is the topic concerned with high cost, high volume or high risk to staff, or to patients/service users?
- Is there evidence of a quality problem, e.g. patient complaints, high complication rates, adverse outcomes or poor symptom control?
- Is there evidence of wide variation in practice?
- Is good evidence available to inform audit standards, e.g. systematic reviews or national clinical guidelines?
- *Is the problem measurable against relevant standards?*
- Is auditing the problem likely to improve healthcare outcomes as well as process improvements?
- Is auditing the problem likely to have economic and efficiency benefits?
- Is the topic a key professional or clinical interest?
- Are reliable sources of data readily available for data collection purposes?
- Can data be collected within a reasonable time frame?
- Is the problem concerned amenable to change?
- Is the topic pertinent to national or local initiatives or priorities?
- Does the topic lend itself to the process of audit, or is a different process more appropriate e.g. root cause analysis, activity or workload analysis?
- How much scope is there for improvement, and what are the potential benefits of undertaking this audit?

Other factors include the scope for the direct involvement of patients and carers, and whether the project crosses organisational or disciplinary boundaries.

Some of these factors may be applied using a Quality Impact Analysis – Appendix 2 provides an example.

The lowest priority for use of resources must be given to those audits that are proposed by individual clinicians or clinical teams. This might include audits undertaken by junior doctors for training purposes or by more senior staff as part of the revalidation process. While staff should not be discouraged from undertaking projects that can bring about real improvements in patient care, it must be made clear to all staff that the need for training or revalidation can be met by undertaking projects that also meet directorate, division or organisational priorities.

It is important to ensure that the views of all stakeholders are taken into account during prioritisation. This means consulting with commissioners, patients and the public.

3.3 Approval of the clinical audit programme

In order to be effective in achieving improvements in the quality of care and patient outcomes, the clinical audit programme must have the support and backing of both the clinical leadership and the senior management. In NHS Trusts the medical director, chief executive and Trust Board all have direct responsibilities for the quality of the services they provide, and therefore must be directly engaged in developing and signing off the clinical audit programme.

3.4 Additions to the clinical audit programme

Compiling and prioritising an annual clinical audit programme at the start of the year should not stifle projects that emerge during the year that will contribute to improvements in care.

Some of these projects might be new 'must-do' audits that could not be determined at the outset of the financial year. Others may represent innovative ideas from clinicians, which are just as valid and important as ideas proposed when the programme was originally developed. All this leads to the need for a transparent system for decision-making about whether or not (and to what extent) a project proposed later in the year should attract support from clinical audit resources.

Organisations may wish to update their annual clinical audit programme as part of the regular review of progress, or alternatively record these additional projects on a separate but complementary clinical audit programme. Whichever approach is taken, all clinical audits must be registered so that processes and outcomes can be monitored and the maximum benefit gained for the organisation.

3.5 Practical steps in compiling an annual Trust clinical audit programme

This is a summary of the steps that should be taken in compiling the programme:

- Forward plan using all sources of "must do" audits to ascertain what should be included for the forthcoming financial year
- Populate the Trust clinical audit programme database with 'must do' audits and incomplete priority projects from the previous year
- 3 Discuss the initial draft programme with audit lead clinicians in directorates / divisions / services and agree timetable for new projects
- 4 Invite proposals for new audits from all stakeholders
- 5 Work with audit leads in directorates / divisions / services to review and prioritise proposals
- 6 Combine prioritised lists from all directorates / divisions / services, identify areas of overlap and discuss with audit leads in order to minimise duplication of effort
- 7 Review of the draft programme by the Clinical Audit Committee
- 8 Final draft directorate / division / service programmes are referred back to the relevant clinical / management body for sign off
- 9 Final programme is signed off by the medical director / chief executive / Trust Board in accordance with clinical audit policy



4 Monitoring the clinical audit programme

4.1 Responsibilities

Each clinical audit project on the programme should have a clinical lead who is ultimately responsible for the conduct of the audit. However in order to ensure that the organisation as a whole benefits from the programme, it must be monitored, and it is up to each healthcare provider to decide who should be responsible for this process. Responsibility for directorate/ division/service unit programmes may be delegated to clinical leads or clinical audit facilitators who work within each of those service levels, while organisation-wide projects may be monitored centrally by the clinical audit manager, or the whole process may be dealt with centrally. These responsibilities must be reflected in the organisational clinical audit policy.

The healthcare provider's clinical audit policy should set out clear lines of reporting for monitoring the clinical audit programme.

4.2 Monitoring progress

Appendix 3 gives an example of a progress report that might be submitted guarterly to the relevant committee. The report gives basic information about all of the projects, and uses a traffic light system/RAG (red-amber-green) rating to indicate progress (or lack of it).

This summary report is based on detailed information held within the clinical audit programme database, and within some databases can be automatically generated as a report.

In order to be able to decide whether a project is progressing satisfactorily, the clinical lead or clinical audit facilitator who maintains the database must receive regular updates on progress from the audit lead. There should be an agreed process for following up on projects that are failing to progress, including provision for escalating concerns to the clinical audit committee.

4.3 Monitoring the implementation of action plans

Once a cycle of data collection has been completed, an action plan will be developed, and the progress in implementing this action plan should also be monitored. All actions should include target dates for completion, and reporting may therefore be by exception. There should be an agreed process for following up any actions that have not been implemented by the target date.

4.4 Identifying risks

If the failure to progress or complete a clinical audit, or the failure to implement an action plan, poses a risk to patients, staff or the healthcare provider as a whole (e.g. a financial risk due to failure to meet standards), appropriate entries must be made on the provider risk register.

5 References

- Statutory and mandatory requirements in clinical audit (HQIP): www.hqip.org.uk/resources/hqip-statutory-and-mandatory-requirements-in-clinical-audit-guidance/
- Guide for clinical audit leads (HQIP): www.hqip.org.uk/resources/quide-for-clinical-audit-leads/
- 3. Best Practice in Clinical Audit (HQIP, Radcliffe Publishing, 2011): www.hqip.org.uk/resources/best-practice-in-clinical-audit-hqip-quide/

Appendix 1. Minimum data set for a clinical audit database

- · Unique identifier
- Title of the clinical audit
- Directorate(s)/division(s)/service unit(s) affected
- Audit aims and objectives
- Is the audit an external 'must-do' audit? If so, why?
- Is the audit an internal 'must-do' audit? If so, why?
- Priority level
- Clinician who takes overall responsibility for the audit
- Names of any other clinicians directly involved in carrying out the audit (e.g. junior doctors)
- Name(s) of the clinical audit facilitator(s) who have been involved in the audit

- Key stakeholders and their involvement in the audit
- Involvement of patients or carers who have been involved and in what way?
- Work plan for carrying out the clinical audit, including expected and actual dates for completion of key stages including re-audit
- Date final report approved and distributed
- Committee/group with responsibility for review of results and ensuring actions are taken, including actual date report received and actions taken and approved



Appendix 2. Quality Impact Analysis

This table can be used to provide a transparent system for deciding whether or not (and to what extent) a locally-conceived clinical audit project should attract clinical audit resources. Each project should be scored against the following criteria.

Criteria	No relevance (o)	Some relevance (1)	Almost met (2)	Fully met (3)	Score
High cost					(x2)
High volume					
High risk					(x2)
Evidence of a quality problem					(x2)
Wide variation in practice					
Good evidence available to inform audit standards					
Likely to improve healthcare outcomes as well as process improvements					
Likely to have economic and efficiency benefits					(x2)
Topic is a key professional or clinical interest					
Reliable sources of data readily available					
Reasonable time frame for completion					
Potential for change					(x2)
Scope for direct involvement of patients and carers					
Multidisciplinary project					
Interface project *					
TOTAL SCORE					

^{*} When projects cross organisational boundaries, consideration should be given to the priority the project has in each organisation.

If the criterion has no relevance, score = o If the criterion has some relevance, score = 1 If the criterion is met in part, score = 2

If the criterion is fully met, score = 3 NB Multipliers are used to weight the most important criteria

Appendix: 3 Clinical Audit Progress Report for 'Insert name here' Division/Directorate

Support	level		
Priority	level		
2,100	COMMENTS		
	40		
Current Status	ප		
Current	70		
	장		
Project start	date		
Lead	clinician		
Clinical audit	contact		
Project	title		
Project reference	number		

Current Status	
Red	Cause for concern. No progress towards completion. Needs evidence of action being taken.
Amber	Delayed, with evidence of actions to get back on track.
Green	Progressing on schedule, evidence of progress.
Blue	Completed, evidence of compliance with standards or action plans to achieve compliance.
White	Audit not planned to start this quarter.

	Priority level		Support level
1	External 'Must-do'	_	Minimal support – registration and advice only
2	Internal 'Must-do'	П	Moderate support – review design, practical assistance
æ	High local priority	Ш	Full facilitation
4	Medium local priority		
5	Low local priority		





Further information is available at: www.hqip.org.uk ISBN NO 978-1-907561-24-5

6th Floor, 45 Moorfields, London, EC2Y 9AE T 020 7997 7370 F 020 7997 7398 E communications@hqip.org.uk

www.hqip.org.uk

Registered Office: 70 Wimpole Street, London W1G 8AX

Registration No. 6498947

Registered Charity Number: 1127049

© 2016 Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership Ltd. (HQIP)

All rights reserved

November 2016. Next review date: November 2019